1 MICHAEL F. BOHN, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No.: 1641
2 mbohn@bohnlawfirm.com
LAW OFFICES OF
3 MICHAEL F. BOHN, ESQ., LTD.
376 East Warm Springs Road, Ste. 140
4 Las Vegas, Nevada 89119
(702) 642-3113/ (702) 642-9766 FAX
5 Attorney for appellant
6
7
8

Electronically Filed
Apr 14 2016 11:50 a.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court

9
10 SUPREME COURT

11 STATE OF NEVADA

12 SATICOY BAY LLC SERIES 9641
CHRISTINE VIEW,

No. 69419

13 Appellant,

14 vs.

15 FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE
ASSOCIATION,

16 Respondent.
17
18
19

20 **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**
21

22 Michael F. Bohn, Esq.
23 Law Office of
Michael F. Bohn, Esq., Ltd.
24 376 East Warm Springs Rd., Ste. 140
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

(A) Basis for the Supreme Court’s Appellate Jurisdiction: The order granting defendant Federal National Mortgage Association’s counter-motion for summary judgment is appealable under NRAP 3A(b)(1).

(B) The filing dates establishing the timeliness of the appeal: The order granting defendant’s counter-motion for summary judgment was filed on December 8, 2015.

Notice of entry of the order was served on appellant by electronic service on December 10, 2015. The notice of appeal was filed on December 11, 2015.

(C) The appeal is from an order granting defendant Federal National Mortgage Association’s counter-motion for summary judgment.

- 1
- 2
- 3
- 4
- 5
- 6
- 7
- 8
- 9
- 10
- 11
- 12
- 13
- 14
- 15
- 16
- 17
- 18
- 19
- 20
- 21
- 22
- 23
- 24
- 25
- 26
- 27
- 28

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

- 1
- 2
- 3
- 4
- 5
- 6
- 7
- 8
- 9
- 0
- 1
- 2
- 3
- 4
- 5
- 6
- 7
- 8
- 9
- 0
- 1
- 2
- 3
- 4
- 5
- 6
- 7

- 3
4
5
6
7
8
9
0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

20

22
23
24
25
26

1 “Morenos”) claiming that plaintiff had acquired title to the real property located at
2 9641 Christine View Court, Las Vegas, Nevada (hereinafter “Property”) at an HOA
3 foreclosure sale conducted by Nevada Association Services, Inc. (hereinafter “NAS”)
4 on behalf of Cheyenne Ridge (hereinafter “HOA”). (JA1a, pgs. 1-7)
5
6

7 In its prayer for relief, plaintiff requested that the court enter a judgment
8 determining and declaring that plaintiff is the rightful holder of title to the Property,
9 free and clear of all liens, encumbrances, and claims of the defendants; for a
10 determination that the defendants have no estate, right, title, interest or claim in the
11 property; and for a judgment forever enjoining the defendants from asserting any
12 right, title, interest or claim in the property. (JA1a, pgs. 3-4)
13
14
15

16 On April 22, 2015, plaintiff filed a motion for summary judgment. (JA1b, pgs.
17 38-117)
18

19 On May 8, 2015, defendant filed an opposition to plaintiff’s motion and a
20 counter-motion for summary judgment, which included arguments that the recitals in
21 the foreclosure deed were not conclusive, that NAS had no authority to foreclose on
22 behalf of the HOA, that the foreclosure notices were insufficient, that the HOA
23 foreclosure sale was commercially unreasonable, and that the HOA lien statute is
24 facially unconstitutional. (JA1b, pgs. 115-208)
25
26
27

1 On May 19, 2015, plaintiff filed a reply in support of plaintiff's motion for
2 summary judgment and an opposition to defendant's countermotion for summary
3 judgment. (JA1c, pgs. 217-228)
4

5 On September 14, 2015, defendant filed a supplemental opposition to
6 plaintiff's motion for summary judgment and countermotion for summary judgment
7 and argued that the HOA did not foreclose its superpriority lien. (JA2a, pgs. 229-
8 318)
9
10

11 On September 25, 2015, plaintiff filed a reply to defendant's supplemental
12 opposition and argued that defendant and its predecessors failed to tender payment
13 of the superpriority lien amount. (JA2a, pgs. 319-330)
14
15

16 On October 23, 2015, defendant filed a second supplemental opposition to
17 plaintiff's motion for summary judgment and countermotion for summary judgment
18 and argued that the provisions of 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3) precluded the involuntary
19 extinguishment of defendant's property interest. (JA2a, pgs. 331-345)
20
21

22 On November 4, 2015, plaintiff filed a reply to second supplemental opposition
23 and opposition to countermotion for summary judgment. (JA2a, pgs. 356-401)
24

25 At the hearing held on November 17, 2015, the court denied plaintiff's motion
26 for summary judgment and granted defendant's countermotion for summary judgment
27

1 because the court found that 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3) prevented defendant's interest in
2 the Property from being eliminated without the consent of the Federal Housing
3 Finance Agency (hereinafter "FHFA"). (JA2b, pgs. 402-420)

4
5 An order denying plaintiff's motion for summary judgment and granting
6 defendant's countermotion for summary judgment was filed on December 8, 2015.
7 (JA2b, pgs. 421-424) Notice of entry of the order was served and filed on December
8 10, 2015. (JA2b, pgs. 425-431) Plaintiff filed its notice of appeal on December 11,
9 2015. (JA2b, pgs. 432-433)

10 **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

11
12 Plaintiff obtained title to the Property by a foreclosure deed recorded on
13 September 26, 2013 that arose from a delinquency in assessments due from the
14 former owners, Don and Rieta Moreno, to the HOA pursuant to NRS Chapter 116.
15 See copy of foreclosure deed at JA1b, pgs. 55-57.

16
17 Defendant was the assigned beneficiary of a deed of trust that was recorded as
18 an encumbrance on the Property on November 2, 2004. See copy of the deed of trust
19 at JA1b, pgs. 59-80. Paragraph (C) on the second page of the deed of trust identified
20 Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. as the "Lender," and Paragraph (E) on the second
21 page of the deed of trust stated that Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc.
22

1 (“MERS”), “acting solely as a nominee for Lender and Lender’s successors and
2 assigns” was “the beneficiary under this Security Instrument.” (JA1b, pg. 60)
3

4 Prior to the HOA foreclosure sale, NAS recorded a notice of delinquent
5 assessment lien on March 19, 2010. See copy of the notice of lien at JA1b, pg. 82.
6

7 NAS recorded a notice of default on August 16, 2010. See copy of the notice
8 of default at JA1b, pgs. 84-85.
9

10 On August 23, 2010, NAS mailed copies of the notice of default to the
11 Morenos, to MERS, and to Countrywide Home Loans. See copy of the notice of
12 default mailing at JA1b, pgs. 87-92.
13

14 On September 13, 2010, Recontrust Company, N.A. recorded a corporation
15 assignment of deed of trust Nevada signed by MERS assigning all beneficial interest
16 under the deed of trust to BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP fka Countrywide Home
17 Loans Servicing LP (hereinafter “BAC”). See copy of assignment at JA1b, pg. 193.
18
19

20 On August 1, 2012, Bank of America recorded an assignment of deed of trust
21 signed by MERS assigning all beneficial interest under the deed of trust to Bank of
22 America, N.A. See copy of assignment at JA1b, pgs. 195-196.
23

24 On October 19, 2012, Bank of America recorded an assignment of deed of trust
25 signed by Bank of America assigning all beneficial interest under the deed of trust to
26
27

1 defendant. See copy of assignment at JA1b, pgs. 198-199.

2
3 NAS recorded a notice of foreclosure sale on August 15, 2013. See copy of
4 notice of foreclosure sale at JA1b, pgs. 94-95.

5
6 In August of 2013, NAS mailed copies of the notice of foreclosure sale to the
7 Morenos, to MERS as nominee, and to Bank of America, N.A. at the return address
8 in Fort Worth, Texas listed in the assignment of deed of trust recorded on October 19,
9 2012. See copy of notice of foreclosure sale mailing at JA1b, pgs. 97-102.

10
11 In addition, NAS posted a copy of the notice of foreclosure sale at three public
12 locations in Clark County, Nevada. See copy of affidavit of posting notice of sale at
13 JA1b, pg. 104. The notice of foreclosure sale was published in the Nevada Legal
14 News on August 16, August 23, and August 30 of 2013. See copy of affidavit of
15 publication at JA1b, pg. 106.

16
17 At the public auction held on September 6, 2013, plaintiff entered the highest
18 bid and purchased the Property for \$26,800.00. See recitals in foreclosure deed at
19 JA1b, pgs. 55-57.

20 21 22 **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

23
24 The nonjudicial foreclosure sale conducted on September 6, 2013 extinguished
25 the deed of trust recorded on November 2, 2004 that was assigned to defendant on
26

1 October 19, 2012.

2
3 The provisions of 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3) do not protect the deed of trust
4 assigned to Fannie Mae from being extinguished by the HOA foreclosure sale held
5 in this case, and Fannie Mae does not have prudential standing to assert that 12
6 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3) prevented its deed of trust from being extinguished. FHFA's
7 consent to the HOA's foreclosure sale may be implied from its conduct.
8
9

10 The nonjudicial foreclosure process provided by NRS 116.31162 to NRS
11 116.31168, does not violate due process because no "state actor" participates in the
12 foreclosure process and because NRS 107.090, as incorporated by NRS
13 116.31168(1), requires that copies of both the notice of default and the notice of sale
14 be mailed to holders of "subordinate" liens.
15
16

17 The HOA foreclosure sale held on September 6, 2013 was not required to be
18 "commercially reasonable."
19

20 **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

21 In the case of Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029
22 (2005), this Court stated that it "reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment
23 de novo, without deference to the findings of the lower court." This Court also
24 stated:
25
26
27

Summary judgment is appropriate under NRCP 56 when the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, admissions, and affidavits, if any, that are properly before the court demonstrate that no genuine issue of material fact exists, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The substantive law controls which factual disputes are material and will preclude summary judgment; other factual disputes are irrelevant. A factual dispute is genuine when the evidence is such that a rational trier of fact could return a verdict for the nonmoving party.

121 P.3d at 1031.

ARGUMENT

1. The HOA's foreclosure sale extinguished the deed of trust assigned to the defendant.

NRS 116.3116 provides in part:

Liens against units for assessments.

1. The association has a lien on a unit for any construction penalty that is imposed against the unit's owner pursuant to NRS 116.310305, **any assessment levied against that unit or any fines imposed against the unit's owner from the time the construction penalty, assessment or fine becomes due.** Unless the declaration otherwise provides, any penalties, fees, charges, late charges, fines and interest charged pursuant to paragraphs (j) to (n), inclusive, of subsection 1 of NRS 116.3102 are enforceable as assessments under this section. If an assessment is payable in installments, the full amount of the assessment is a lien from the time the first installment thereof becomes due.

2. A lien under this section is prior to all other liens and encumbrances on a unit **except:**

1
2
3 (a) Liens and encumbrances recorded before the recordation of the
4 declaration and, in a cooperative, liens and encumbrances which the
5 association creates, assumes or takes subject to;

6 (b) **A first security interest on the unit recorded before the date on**
7 **which the assessment sought to be enforced became delinquent** or,
8 in a cooperative, the first security interest encumbering only the unit's
9 owner's interest and perfected before the date on which the assessment
10 sought to be enforced became delinquent; and

11 (c) Liens for real estate taxes and other governmental assessments or
12 charges against the unit or cooperative.

13 **The lien is also prior to all security interests described in paragraph**
14 **(b) to the extent of any charges incurred by the association on a unit**
15 **pursuant to NRS 116.310312 and to the extent of the assessments for**
16 **common expenses based on the periodic budget adopted by the**
17 **association pursuant to NRS 116.3115 which would have become**
18 **due in the absence of acceleration during the 9 months immediately**
19 **preceding institution of an action to enforce the lien,** unless federal
20 regulations adopted by the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation
21 or the Federal National Mortgage Association require a shorter period
22 of priority for the lien. If federal regulations adopted by the Federal
23 Home Loan Mortgage Corporation or the Federal National Mortgage
24 Association require a shorter period of priority for the lien, the period
25 during which the lien is prior to all security interests described in
26 paragraph (b) must be determined in accordance with those federal
27 regulations, except that notwithstanding the provisions of the federal
regulations, the period of priority for the lien must not be less than the
6 months immediately preceding institution of an action to enforce the
lien. This subsection does not affect the priority of mechanics' or
materialmen's liens, or the priority of liens for other assessments made
by the association. (Emphasis added).

By its clear terms, NRS 116.3116 (2) provides that the super-priority lien for

1 9 months of charges is “prior to all security interests described in paragraph (b).” The
2 first deed of trust, recorded on November 2, 2004 falls squarely within the language
3 of NRS 116.3116(2)(b). The statutory language does not limit the nature of this
4 “priority” in any way.
5

6
7 In SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A., 130 Nev., Adv. Op.
8 75, 334 P.3d 408 (2014), this Court stated:
9

10 NRS 116.3116 gives a homeowners’ association (HOA) a superpriority
11 lien on an individual homeowner’s property for up to nine months of
12 unpaid HOA dues. With limited exceptions, this lien is “prior to all
13 other liens and encumbrances” on the homeowner’s property, even a
14 first deed of trust recorded before the dues became delinquent. NRS
15 116.3116(2). We must decide whether this is a true priority lien such
16 that its foreclosure extinguishes a first deed of trust on the property and,
17 if so, whether it can be foreclosed nonjudicially. We answer both
18 questions in the affirmative.

19 334 P.3d at 409.

20 Under Nevada law, the nonjudicial foreclosure of the HOA’s super priority lien
21 extinguished the deed of trust held by the defendant.

22 **2. There is a statutory conclusive presumption that the HOA’s**
23 **foreclosure sale was properly conducted.**
24

25 Nevada has a disputable presumption that “the law has been obeyed.” See NRS
26 47.250(16). This creates a disputable presumption that the foreclosure sale was
27

1 conducted in compliance with the law. Pursuant to NRS 116.31166, the recitals in
2 the foreclosure deed are sufficient and conclusive proof that the required notices were
3 mailed by NAS on behalf of the HOA. The foreclosure deed recorded on September
4 26, 2013 contains the following recitals on the first page (JA1b, pg. 55):
5
6

7 This conveyance is made pursuant to the powers conferred upon agent
8 by Nevada Revised Statutes, the Cheyenne Ridge governing documents
9 (CC&R's) and that certain Notice of Delinquent Assessment Lien,
10 described herein. Default occurred as set forth in a Notice of Default and
11 Election to Sell, recorded on 8/16/2010 as instrument # 0002331 Book
12 20100816 which was recorded in the office of the recorder of said
13 county. Nevada Association Services, Inc. has complied with all
14 requirements of law including, but not limited to, the elapsing of 90
15 days, mailing of copies of Notice of Delinquent Assessment and Notice
16 of Default and the posting and publication of the Notice of Sale.

17 The controlling statute, NRS 116.31166, provides:

18 **Foreclosure of liens: Effect of recitals in deed; purchaser not**
19 **responsible for proper application of purchase money; title**
20 **vested in purchaser without equity or right of redemption.**

21 1. **The recitals in a deed** made pursuant to NRS 116.31164 of:

- 22 (a) Default, the mailing of the notice of delinquent assessment,
23 and the recording of the notice of default and election to sell;
24 (b) The elapsing of the 90 days; and
25 (c) The giving of notice of sale,
26 are **conclusive proof of the matters recited.**
27

1 2. **Such a deed containing those recitals is conclusive**
2 **against** the unit's former owner, his or her heirs and assigns, **and**
3 **all other persons.** The receipt for the purchase money contained
4 in such a deed is sufficient to discharge the purchaser from
5 obligation to see to the proper application of the purchase money.

6 3. The sale of a unit pursuant to NRS 116.31162, 116.31163
7 and 116.31164 vests in the purchaser the title of the unit's owner
8 without equity or right of redemption. (emphasis added)

9
10 NRS 47.240(6) also provides that conclusive presumptions include "[a]ny other
11 presumption which, by statute, is expressly made conclusive." Because NRS
12 116.31166 contains such an expressly conclusive presumption, the recitals in the
13 foreclosure deed are "conclusive proof" that the defendant and/or its predecessors
14 were served with copies of the required notices for the foreclosure sale. The exhibits
15 to plaintiff's motion for summary judgment prove that the recitals in the foreclosure
16 deed are true. (JA1b, pgs. 54-106)

17
18
19 An additional conclusive presumption is found in NRS 47.240(2):

20
21 The truth of the fact recited, from the recital in a written
22 instrument between the parties thereto, or their successors in
23 interest by a subsequent title, but this rule does not apply to the
24 recital of a consideration.

25
26 In Shadow Wood Homeowners Association v. New York Community Bank,

1 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 5, 2016 WL 347979 (2016), this Court recognized that the
2 recitals in a foreclosure deed are conclusive in the absence of grounds for equitable
3 relief. 2016 WL 347979 at *6. In the present case, defendant produced no evidence
4 of the fraud, unfairness, or oppression required to set aside a foreclosure sale.
5

6
7 **3. The provisions of 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3) do not apply to the HOA**
8 **foreclosure sale held in this case.**
9

10 At page 6 of its second supplemental opposition, defendant claimed that 12
11 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3) “automatically bars any nonconsensual limitation or
12 extinguishment through foreclosure of any interest in property held by Fannie Mae
13 while in conservatorship.” (JA2a, pg. 336) To the contrary, subparagraph (3) of 12
14 U.S.C. § 4617(j) bears the heading of “[p]roperty protection” and states:
15
16

17 No **property of the Agency** shall be subject to levy, attachment,
18 garnishment, foreclosure, or sale **without the consent of the Agency**,
19 nor shall any involuntary lien attach to the **property of the Agency**.
20 (emphasis added)

21 12 U.S.C. § 4502(2) states: “The term ‘Agency’ means the Federal Housing
22 Finance Agency established under section 4511 of this title. 12 U.S.C. § 4502(10)(A)
23 defines the term “enterprise” to mean “the Federal National Mortgage Association
24 and any affiliate thereof.” 12 U.S.C. § 4502(20)(A) defines the term “regulated
25
26
27

1 entity” to mean “the Federal National Mortgage Association and any affiliate
2 thereof.” In this case, Bank of America, N.A. assigned its deed of trust to Fannie
3 Mae (the “enterprise” or “regulated entity”) and not to FHFA (the “Agency”).
4 (JA1b, pgs. 198-199) No language in 12 U.S.C. § 4617 protects the property of an
5 “enterprise” or a “regulated entity” from being extinguished through foreclosure.
6

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