IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Case No. 69419

Electronically Filed Jun 17 2016 11:32 a.m.

Tracie K. Lindeman

SATICOY BAY LLC SERIES 9641 CHRISTINE CHERWOF Supreme Court

Appellant,

VS.

FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION

Respondent.

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada The Honorable Elissa F. Cadish, District Judge District Court Case No. A690924

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

LAUREL I. HANDLEY
Nevada Bar No. 9576
JORY C. GARABEDIAN
Nevada Bar No. 10352
ANTHONY R. SASSI
Nevada Bar No. 12486
ALDRIDGE PITE, LLP
520 South 4th Street, Ste. 360
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Telephone No. (858) 750-7600
Facsimile (702) 685-6342

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

supreme Law of the Land.' They must not give effect to state laws that conflict with federal laws." *Armstrong v. Exceptional Child Ctr., Inc.*, 135 S. Ct. 1378, 1383 (2015) (quoting U.S. Const. Art. IV cl. 2). Accordingly, "once a case or controversy properly comes before a court, judges are bound by federal law." *Id.* at 1384. Thus, a private defendant may successfully argue that federal law preempts a state doctrine, thereby defeating a private plaintiff's claim. *See Mutual Pharmaceutical Co. v. Bartlett*, 133 S. Ct. 2466 (2013).

Federal courts have applied this principle with regard to the State Foreclosure Statute at issue here and in cases involving Saticoy Bay. See Thunder *Props., Inc. v. Wood*, No. 3:14-cv-00068-RCJ-WGC, 2015 WL 1926768, at *4 (D. Nev. Apr. 28, 2015) ("[W]hether N.R.S. 116.3116 as applied to federally insured mortgages conflicts with [the Supremacy Clause] is a question of law that may be raised by any party, and not just a government agency." (citing Armstrong, 135 S. Ct. at 1383); Saticoy Bay LLC v. SRMOF II 2012-1 Trust, No. 2:13-CV-1199-JCM-VCF, 2015 WL 1990076, at *4 (D. Nev. Apr. 30, 2015) ("Plaintiff cites no case law, nor does the court know of any, limiting federal preemption arguments to government parties."). In addition, other private parties have invoked the operation of the FDIC's similar property-protection statute to protect their property interests. See Beal Bank, SSB v. Nassau Cntv., 973 F. Supp. 130, 133 (E.D.N.Y. 1997); Cambridge Capital Corp. v. Halcon Enters., Inc., 842 F. Supp. 499, 503 (S.D. Fla.

1993) (same); see also Grimsley v. Bd. of Cnty. Comm'rs of Atoka Cnty., Okla., 9 F. App'x 970, 973 n.3 (10th Cir. 2001) (noting that private party injured by a sale without FDIC consent could bring claim invoking the operation of FDIC's property-protection statute).

Moreover, Fannie Mae falls within the prudential "zone of interest" that the Federal Foreclosure Bar was intended to protect. "[R]ules of prudential standing are flexible rule[s] applied to ensure the concrete adverseness which sharpens the presentation of issues." *Mills v. United States*, 742 F.3d 400, 406 (9th Cir. 2014) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). To satisfy prudential standing, "the plaintiff's complaint [must] fall within the zone of interests to be protected or regulated by the statute or constitutional guarantee in question." *Id*.

In this case, it is clear that Fannie Mae falls within the zone of interests that the Federal Foreclosure Bar is intended to protect. Fannie Mae's property is precisely the property that the Federal Foreclosure Bar was designed to protect. Because it is within the zone of interest, Fannie Mae has standing to assert the Federal Foreclosure Bar as a defense to Saticoy Bay's quiet title claim.

In support of its position that Fannie Mae lacks standing to assert the Federal Foreclosure Bar, Saticoy Bay cites *Freedom Mortgage Corp. v. Las Vegas Development Group, LLC*, 106 F. Supp. 3d 1174 (D. Nev. 2015). In *Freedom Mortgage*, the court held that the plaintiff lender, Freedom Mortgage, lacked

prudential standing to raise claims under the theory that the Property Clause protected property insured by the Department of Housing and Urban Development ("HUD"). Id. at 1179. The facts in Freedom Mortgage are starkly different from the facts in this case, where Fannie Mae is defending its own property interest. HUD had no protected interest in the property in *Freedom Mortgage*, and even if it had, the plaintiff lender was not the holder of that interest. See id. (holding that, unlike an insurance policy, a deed of trust is a protected interest). Here, by contrast, Fannie Mae is a defendant and stands to lose its property interest in the event Saticoy Bay prevails on its claim for quiet title. Thus, Fannie Mae is defending its own interest pursuant to a federal statute designed precisely to protect its property.⁸ Indeed, Judge Dorsey, who issued Freedom Mortgage, appears to agree that case is distinguishable because she has denied a motion to dismiss in which an opposing party contended that Fannie Mae lacked standing to raise the Federal Foreclosure Bar. See Fed. Nat'l Mortg. Ass'n v. SFR Inv. Pool 1, LLC, No. 2:14-CV-2046-JAD-PAL, 2015 WL 5723647 (D. Nev. Sept. 28, 2015).

⁸ Freedom Mortgage is further distinguishable because there, a private lender sought to establish a purported conflict between the State Foreclosure Statute and the "purpose" of the HUD insurance program; here, the State Foreclosure Statute directly conflicts with the express terms of the Federal Foreclosure Bar. Freedom Mortgage, 106 F. Supp. 3d at 1179. Congress has spoken directly to the precise issue now before the Court; the Federal Foreclosure Bar expressly protects Fannie Mae's property interests from extinguishment by foreclosure.

F. The Alternative Grounds to Grant Fannie Mae's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment Need Not be Considered

The District Court granted summary judgment in favor of Fannie Mae based on the Federal Foreclosure Bar. JA at 423:15-23. The court further ruled that the other arguments presented by the parties, including those asserted by Fannie Mae in its counter-motion for summary judgment, were moot. JA at 420:5-7. Thus, the District Court's SJ Order did not contain findings of fact or conclusions of law related to the commercial reasonableness of the HOA Sale or whether the State Foreclosure Statute comports with due process requirements.

The Supreme Court need not address these issues either because the Court can affirm the District Court's decision based on the Federal Foreclosure Bar. *See Turner v. State*, 98 Nev. 103, 108, 641 P.2d 1062, 1065 (1982) (Supreme Court will abstain from addressing moot issues.); *see also Hopkins v. City of Sierra Vista*, *Ariz.*, 931 F.2d 524, 527 (9th Cir. 1991) ("those questions were not ruled on by the district court and we refuse to address them here."); *Apartment Inv. and Management Co. (AIMCO) v. Nutmeg Ins. Co.*, 593 F.3d 1188, 1198 (10th Cir. 2010) (recognizing that the better practice on issues raised but not ruled on by the district court is to "leav[e] the matter to the district court in the first instance") (citation omitted).

G. <u>Nevertheless, the Alternative Grounds Provide Additional Bases to Affirm the Summary Judgment in Favor of Fannie Mae</u>

Although not ruled upon, Fannie Mae's alternative grounds for moving for summary judgment provide two additional and independent bases for this Court to affirm the summary judgment in favor of Fannie Mae. The Court can affirm summary judgment on any non-waived ground even though the district court did not address it. *See Estate of Suskovich v. Anthem Health Plans Of Virginia, Inc.*, 553 F.3d 559, 572 (7th Cir. 2009).) Moreover, a correct decision of a district court will be affirmed, even if the decision is based on the wrong reason. *Hotel Riviera, Inc. v. Torres*, 97 Nev. 399, 403, 632 P.2d 1155, 1158 (1981); *see also Nelson v. Sierra Const. Corp.*, 77 Nev. 334, 343, 364 P.2d 402, 406 (1961) ("We have many times upheld the rule in this state that a correct judgment will not be reversed simply because it was based on a wrong reason.").

Here, even if the Federal Foreclosure Bar is not considered, the district court was correct in granting summary judgment to Fannie Mae because: (1) the HOA Sale was not commercially reasonable; and (2) the State Foreclosure Statute violates due process. Each of these bases provides an independent ground to set aside the HOA Sale and affirm summary judgment in favor of Fannie Mae because Saticoy Bay is not entitled to quiet title or an injunction prohibiting Fannie Mae from proceeding with foreclosure pursuant to its Deed of Trust.

1. The HOA Sale Was Not Commercially Reasonable

A foreclosure sale that is not conducted in a commercially reasonable manner is ripe to be set aside. Shadow Wood Homeowners Ass'n. Inc. v. N.Y. Cmty. Bancorp, Inc., 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 5 at *10, 366 P.3d 1105, 1110 (2016) (citing Long v. Towne, 98 Nev. 11, 13, 639 P.2d 528, 530 (1982); Levers v. Rio King Land & Inv. Co., 93 Nev. 95, 98, 560 P.2d 917, 920 (1977). An HOA foreclosure sale is not commercially reasonable when the sales price is grossly inadequate and there is some element of "fraud, unfairness, or oppression." Shadow Wood, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 5 at *9-10, 366 P.3d at 1110. While there is no bright line rule, generally a purchase price less than 20 percent of the property's fair market value is grossly inadequate. Id. at *15, 366 P.3d at 1112 (citing Restatement (Third) of Prop.: Mortgages §8.3 (cmt. b (1997) ("a court is warranted in invalidating a sale where the prices is less than 20 percent of fair market value"). In considering what level of misconduct justifies setting aside a sale, the wider the discrepancy between the sales price and market value, the lower the bar to setting the sale aside. Levers, 93 Nev. at 98-99, 560 P.2d at 920; see also Ballentyne v. Smith, 205 U.S. 285, 290 (1907) ("if there be great inadequacy, slight circumstances of unfairness in the conduct of the party benefited by the sale will be sufficient to justify setting it aside.")

Here, the HOA Sale was not commercially reasonable. First, the sale price at the HOA Sale was grossly inadequate. *See* JA at 55-57. Specifically, at the time of the HOA Sale, the Property was worth at least \$170,266, as evidenced by the Declaration of Value attached to the Foreclosure Deed. *Id.* Yet Saticoy Bay paid only \$26,800 – a mere 15.7 percent of the value. *Id.* Second, the inadequate price is a direct result of the unfair and unreasonable manner in which Cheyenne Ridge and NAS conducted the sale. Specifically, neither gave any indication of whether or not the superpriority piece of the HOA Lien has been satisfied. This lack of information left potential purchasers with no way of knowing what was being sold – a property free of any liens or a property encumbered by a deed of trust. JA at 271:21-272:15; JA at 82; JA at 84-85; JA at 202; JA at 94-95.

Indicative of their disregard for providing accurate information, neither the HOA nor NAS calculated the superpriority piece of the HOA Lien or accounted for payments made on the account between issuance of the First NOS and the Second NOS, which payments may have satisfied the superpriority piece of the lien. JA at 307; JA at 233; JA at 256; JA at 276-95. Indeed, the public record (and the appendix in this appeal) indicates that when the First NOS was recorded on February 7, 2012, the amount due under the HOA Lien was \$3,426.42. JA at 202. Eighteen months later when the Second NOS was recorded on August 15, 2013, the amount due under the HOA Lien had been reduced to \$2,712.17. JA at 94-95.

This reduced amount suggests that the super-priority piece of the lien may have been satisfied. Yet there was no way for a potential buyer to know what it was purchasing or for Fannie Mae to know whether the super-priority portion of the lien was being foreclosed upon or not.

Further adding to any potential buyer's uncertainty is the fact that the HOA's recorded CC&Rs include a mortgage savings clause. JA at 238; JA at 300.9 While an HOA's CC&Rs cannot subordinate its lien, the continued inclusion of a mortgage savings clause in the recorded CC&Rs signals an intention not to extinguish first priority deeds of trust. Thus, the HOA provided conflicting statements regarding its intentions, which discouraged higher bids and resulted in an inadequate sales price. *See ZYZZX2 v. Dixon*, 2016 WL 1181666 *5 (D. Nev. March 25, 2016) (citing *Shadow Wood*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op at *6). Ultimately, the confusion surrounding whether the HOA Lien included the superpriority piece eroded potential buyers' confidence and lead to an inadequate sales price. This resulted in a commercially unreasonable sale that must be set aside.

⁹ In *SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A.*, this court held that a mortgage savings clause in an HOA's CC&Rs cannot subordinate the HOA's lien to a prior recorded deed of trust. *SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A.* 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 75, 334 P.3d at 419. However, there is nothing obligating associations to foreclose on the superpriority piece. Instead, if its policy is not to extinguish mortgages and deeds of trust, an HOA can elect to foreclose on only the subpriority piece.

2. The State Foreclosure Statute Violates Due Process

The HOA Sale must also be set aside because the State Foreclosure Statute violates due process, which requires that any party whose life, liberty or property is threatened be afforded notice and opportunity to be heard. Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306, 313 (1950); see also Swartz v. Adams, 93 Nev. 240, 243, 563 P.2d 74, 76 (1977). To satisfy due process, NRS 116.3116 et seq. must require the HOA to provide actual notice to all junior interest holders. See Cont'l Ins. Co. v. Moseley, 100 Nev. 337, 338, 683 P.2d 20, 21 (1984) (citing Menonite Bd. of Missions v. Adams, 462 U.S. 791 (1983)). However, it does not. Instead, it impermissibly shifts the burden to a junior interest holder to request notice. See NRS 116.31163; NRS 116.31165; NRS 116.31168; see also Small Engine Shop, Inc. v. Cascio, 878 F.2d 883 (5th Cir. 1989) (holding that burden shifting statutes are only sufficient to provide notice to parties whose interests are difficult to ascertain). Because NRS 116.3116 et seq., fails on its face to require actual notice, it therefore fails to satisfy due process and is unconstitutional.

Generally, due process scrutiny only applies to state action and does not extend to private conduct. *Nat'l Collegiate Athletic Ass'n v. Tarkanian*, 488 U.S. 179, 191(1988). However, when the state provides the "mantle of authority that enhanced the power of the harm-causing individual action," the state is sufficiently involved to treat the private conduct as state action. *Id* This is particularly true

when the state creates the legal framework governing the conduct. *Id* (citing *N. Ga. Finishing, Inc. v. Di-Chem, Inc.*, 419 U.S. 601, 95 S. Ct. 719 (1975)).

NRS 116.3116 provides the mantle of authority to HOAs and enhances their power. Indeed, without NRS 116.3116, no portion of an HOA lien would take priority over a prior recorded first security interest. In enacting the statute, the Legislature created the exception to the common law rule of first in time first in right, and elevated an HOA lien above any prior recorded interests. As such, due process scrutiny applies to HOA foreclosures and NRS 116.3116 *et seq*.

Saticoy Bay argues that due process is not implicated because there is no state actor involved in an HOA foreclosure process. ¹⁰ Opening Br. at 39. However, each of the cases Saticoy Bay relies upon addresses state involvement in nonjudicial foreclosures pursuant to deeds of trust. Importantly, each of the courts noted the power of sale was created by contract, i.e. the deed of trust or mortgage.

Saticoy Bay's argument that the State Foreclosure Statute does not involve a state actor was not sufficiently raised below. Although there is one reference to "state action" in Plaintiff's original Reply brief, it was mentioned in passing and with regard to nonjudicial foreclosures pursuant to deeds of trust. Moreover, no points or authorities regarding state action were presented. Therefore, this court should not consider this argument. *State ex rel. State Bd. of Equalization v. Barta*, 124 Nev. 612, 621, 188 P.3d 1092, 1098 (2008) ("this court generally will not consider arguments that a party raises for the first time on appeal.") Fannie Mae briefly addresses the argument here. However, to the extent this Court considers the issue to be appropriate for consideration, Fannie Mae respectfully requests that the Court remand the issue to be decided in the first instance by the trial court or allow supplemental briefing on appeal.

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